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Figure 3.8 Detail of Pa¡ish Map of Cook, 1914-1928, showing the old a¡rd new alignments of
Cowpasture Road on east and west sides of the Uppet Canal respectively. The new alignment is

indicated with a red aÍoril (Source @ NSW Iánd Information Centre' ReÊ f 4090502).

In 1920, Australian born architect ând artist Villiam Hardy lVilson published The Cow Pasture Road,

a romanricised travelogue and illustrated description of the old colonial houses and gardens along the

road, berween Prospect and Camden. \Øilson confirmed that traffic picked up on the road south of
Carnes Hill, along the route of the Great South Road; that being said, a traveller was unlikely to see

more than two dozen timber or farmer's carts per day. Automobiles had also started to appear by this

date; however, 'W'ilson notes that the surface was perilous to the wheels of cars when wet, suggesting

that it was simply formed of compacted clay. '!Øilson's whimsical map of the road, which is the

frontispiece to the book, has Carnes Hill at its centre, at the junction of Cowpasture and Bringelly

Roads, and the Upper Canal (Figure 3.9). This hill has expansive views of the surrounding landscape,

and a traveller could

ouerlooþ the Cross Road, Bringelþ Road, both parx ofthe diuided Cow Pasture Road, the counties of
Cumberland, Camden and Cooþ, and, on a clear da1t, the menopolitan celnetery [RooÞwoodJ where

muhitudes are buried... Mikon 1920:33).

,
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Figure 3.9 Síilson's map of The Cow Pastu¡e Road, with 'Ca¡n Hill' at the junction of Cowpasture and

Bringeþ Roads, and the Upper Canal. (Source: W'ilson l920:frontispiece)

In 1926, following commencement of the Main Roads Act (1924), the Board of Main Roads decided

that the Great South Road via Carnes Hill should be upgraded to a standard width of 20 feet, with a
surface suitable to carry main highway úaffic, including wet weether motor traffìc. In 1928, following

approval ofthe project for Federal Aid, the Board decided to construct a deviation to the route, to the

south of Carnes Hill. The deviation reduced the grade of the road from 1 in 21 (on Carne's Hil) to 1

in 13, and shortened the route 6y l,2OO feet (366m).

The new secrion of road, which cut a northeast-southwest line through the former Drummond estate,

ìMas consrructed between 1928 and 1929, with an 8in sandstone Telford foundation and a 3in
'wearing course' of bituminous macadam, and a reinforced concrete bridge over the Upper Canal

(Figure 3.10) (LPMA CT Vol2858 Fol 106; Hall 1931:88, 90). Due to the unstable nature of the

local clay substrate, the Board decided to continue the works south of the Canal âs 7in concrete

pavemenr, along the original route of Cowpasture Road. The change \Mas warranted by the rapidly

increasing rares of moror vehicle traffic, which by 1929 hed reached an average of 600 vehicles per day

travelling between Sydney and Camden (Hall 1931:89-90).

The upgraded road was opened in December 7930, as part of the Hume Highwa¡ named ïn 1928

after Australian explorer Hamilton Hume (Figure 3.11) (SMH 31 December 1930). The new road

can be seen on aerial photographs of the area (Figure 3.I2). Aseries of photographs published in the

B5;\ i\4
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Board's journal, Main Roads, also show before and after pictures of the road (Figure 3.13-Figure

3.r4).

Æ¡BÐ

34

/. ,.5;Air ¡ ì': A.x' i 0t;\ A

540 a(.

lircttt

ì" 63

I{r'11

'hl2æ6Ð 'Praclo
t?

Figure 3.10 Deail of Parish Map of Minto, 1930-1962, showing the route of the Hume Highway
through the former Drummond estate (Source: @ NSW'I-and Information Centre, Refi f 4046601).

Figure 3.ll Localíty SÞetch of tbe Hame Híghraøy behaeen Cross Roads ønd Nøellen The olà road at
Carn¿\ Hìll deúation ís shoun dotted at'1. " (Source: Hall f 931:87).
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Background iruge: Det¿il frw Gæsciflce Au:tralia, Aeri¿l photographs 1429-807 and 3429-8074, Sydney Survey, 1930

Figure 3.12 Mosaic of aerial photographs, 1930, showing the Carne's Hill deviation to the Great Sout'h

Road/ Hume Highway (now CamdenValley\7ay).

Figure 3.13 Before reconstruction: Crass Roads- Figure 3.14 After reconstruction: Complctcd

Narellen Road 4 l/z mílcs soutb of tbe u)ater race. ctncretc paoønent betøeen Carne's H¡A øn¿
(Source: Hall 1931:88). Nørellan" I % ¡níIzs soath of tbe uøter-røce.

(Source Hall1931:89).

This section of the Hume Highway is now called Camden Valley 'S?ay. The bypassed section of
Cowpasture Road, north of the new junction became a local road and has retained the name

Cowpasture Road (Figure 3.15). Camden Valley Vay is currently being upgraded from two to four

lanes, as part of the process of improving regional ffansport infrastructure in conjunction with
development of the S\ØGC.
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Figure 3.15 Detail of Map 94 f¡om the UBD E¿".J S*eet Dírectory, 1964, showing the junction of the

Hume Highway (now Camden ValleyWay) and Cowpasture Road. A short section of Cowpasture Road

retains its original alignment (circled red).

Bringelly Roød

In August 1815, Governor Macquarie ordered the construction of a new public road between

Liverpool and the Cooke and Bringelly districts (Sydney Gazette 12 August 1815; Keatinglg96:15).
The area of Bringelly had been crossed in 1802 by the explorer George Caley, and in 1810 Governor

Macquarie described the area as being of a superior quølity but þr fom being aery good land þr
cubiuation (Keating 1996:22). The route of the Bringelly Road was laid out byJames Meehan, who

\Mas ar rhat time Deputy Surveyor General to the colony, and included timber bridges built by convict

gangs ecross the local creeks (Keating1996:15).

By 1822, the bridges were in need of repair, and were an ongoing source of complaint for travellers

(Sydney Monitor 23 January 1830; Keating 1996:15). In 1906, a local resident 'William Brown

reported that the road from Bringelly to Liverpool used to be impassable, but that it was now

splendid: it is a redit to tlte Gouernment þr the way they fixed ll zzp (NS'!l' Legislative Assembly

\904:69). Another local resident, Edith Fitzpatrick, recalled that in the 1920s the Bringelly Road at

the Upper Canal was ø shocÞing road ... because there [wereJ so mltn! wood drays carting loads to

sawmills at Liverpool railway station (Keating 1996:13l).

In 1925, Nepean Shire Council requested that the newly formed Board of Main Roads reconstruct

Bringelly Road, in order to provide an adequate means of transport and communications between

Liverpool and the heart of the Nepean Shire. The Board decided to upgrade the road east of the

Upper Canal to carry main highway traffic, as part of the Great South Road (later Hume Highway)

upgrade between Liverpool and Narellen. Howevet, in 1928, midway through the project, it was
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decided to create a deviation around the steep slopes of Carne's Hill bypassing this section of the road
(see Cowpasture Roød above; Hall 1931:87-88).

Bringelly Road is currently being upgraded from two to four lanes, as part of the process of improving

regional transport infrastructure in conjunction with development of the S'SØGC. It will intersect the

proposed Leppington Town Centre.

Fifteenth Aaenue (Hoxton Pørþ Roød)

Fifteenth Avenue was likely established in the late 1880s, as part of a major subdivision of the Hoxton
Park Estate (see Section 3.4.1 below). It formed one of the main transport routes from the town of
Liverpool to the northern part of the study area, used by residents and for carting timber to Liverpool
railway station, but was poorly maintained for much of the late nineteenth and early twentieth
centuries. \Tilliam Freame, a visitor to the ârea in 1902, described the road as øbsoluteþ tbe worst in
the countty, while in 1906 local resident \Øilliam Brown described it as the uorst road a man could get

az (NS'SØ Legislative Assembly 1904:69 ; Freame I928:l I -I2).

Edrnondson Aaenue

Edmondson Avenue was also likely established in the late 1880s, es part of the Hoxton Park Estate.

Originally named Third Avenue, it formed one of two main north-south roads through the study area,

the other being Fourth Avenue to the west. Third Avenue gradually became the focus of Austral

Town Centre, following the establishment of Austral Public School in 1893, and a general store in the

late 1930s-1940s. The road was renamed Edmondson Avenue in the post-war era, in honour of local

resident Corporal John Hurst Edmondson, who died in action during 'SØorld 'Sflar II (VS?II) Gee

Section 3.5.1).

3.3.2 Transport - Railways

In 1904, the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public 'SØorl<s considered a proposal to construct

a new railway from Liverpool to Mulgoa, running through the centre of the Hoxton Park Estate. The

proposal originated in a report in 1890 by E B Price of the Department of Public \7orks, which drew

attention to an area of undeveloped land that lay in the angle betlveen the Southern and 'Sü'estern

Railways, namely the Cowpastures. This proposal attracted public attention, and in 1897 the

Minister for Public l7orks subsequently initiated surveys of two routes, one of which passed through
the middle of the study area. The Committee noted that the eree was only sparsely settled, and in
view of the cost of the railwa¡ estimeted ú L92,148 exclusive of land, concluded that the proposal was

unviable (NS\7 Legislative Assembly 1904:5 -6).

In the late twentieth century, the question of a railway through the region was revisited, beginning

with investigations by the Commonwealth Government into a proposed Second Sydney Airport (also

known as Badgerys Creek Airport). By the 1990s, the NS'SI Government was also beginning to

explore development opportunities in the region, which included the provision of new areas of
suburban housing supported by new forms of public transport. In December 2004, the NS'!7'

Government announced its planning policy to develop 'growth centres' in Sydney's South \Øest and

North \Øest. This policy included a new rail line, the South 'Sl'est Rail Link, which would be

constructed berween Glenfield and Leppington. Construction of the new line began in Glenfield in
late 2010.

3.3.3 Forestry

Although some large areas of native forest were cleared for pasture during the first decades of European

setdement, much of it by burning, the majority of land was cleared in the late nineteenth and early
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twentieth centuries, as an important source of fuel and building timber in Sydney and as a reliable
cash crop for local farmers.

In 1904, the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public 'S7orla reported that a large percentage of
settlers in the area were engaged in carting firewood to the Southern or \Øesrern railway, for
conveyance to Sydney, with over 18,000 tons loaded at Liverpool Station each year (NS\Ø Legislative

Assembly 1904:7; Keating 1996:125-126). However, in his evidence to the Committee, local butcher
\Øilliam Brown described woodcarting as a pløled out game, a last resort if a møn had nothing else to do
(NS\ø Legislative Assembly 1904:68-75; Keating 1996: 726).

In 1906, a Reconnaissance Map of the Neighbourhood of Liverpool Camp confirms rhat a large part
of the study area north of the Bringelly Road rvas sdll thickly timbered at rhis date, while the large

pastoral estates south ofthe road had been cleared (Figure 3.16). The Hinchinbrooþ estate beyond the
north edge ofthe study area has also been substantially cleared.

In 1931, the Sands'Sydney Suburban and Country Cornrnerciøl Directory (Sands'Directory) indicates

that there was a sawmill active in the Austral area, operated by Longford & Thomas. The directory
also lists three carters in the area ar this date.

Aerial photographs from 1930 show a patchwork of cleared and lightly timbered land throughour rhe

study area (Figure 3.17). However, Kemps Creek Nature Reserve, at the west side of the
Hinchinbrooþ estete, was maintained as a wooded area throughout the twenrierh cenrury, and is now
protected as a rare pocket of native Shale-Gravel Transitional Forest, Cumberland Plain lVoodland

and Alluvial'Voodland (Cardno 201 | :12-74).
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Cãmp, l906,ivelvSouth W¿les (Source: Mitchell Library,
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Figure 3.16 Detail of the Reconnaissance Map of the Neighbourhood of Liverpool Camp, 1906. Much
of the study areâ was still thickly timbered at this date. Buildings, indicated by small black squares, are

sparseþ scâttered through the area. The map contains some eüors' including the misplacement of
Austral Public School.
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Fignre 3.I7 Aeiat photograph of the north part of the study a¡eî, 193O, showing a series of lightly
timbered three acre lots along Fifteenth Avenue. A thickly timbered area at the northwest corner of the

study area (top left) is now part of Kemps Creek Nature Reserve, a rare pocket of native Shale-Gravel

Transitional Forest, Cumberland Plain Woodland and Alluvial Voodla¡rd.

3.3.4 Agriculture and Pastoralßm

Many of the early granrs in the Liverpool district were taken up as grazing land. By 1821, when

Governor Macquarie lefr the colony, the broader district boasted the highest stock numbers in the

colony. Liverpool was recorded as having 27.5o/o of the sheep, 27o/o of the horses and 26.9o/ot of the

cartle in NSY/ at this time (Kass 2004:14). However, in later decades, sheep were moved across the

Blue Mountains to the larger properties being developed in the west, and cattle came to dominate

livestock numbers in the region.

As well as livestock, a thriving agricultural economy developed around Liverpool. In 1821 there were

2,372 acres of wheat and 1,835 acres of maize under cultivation in the district. This was in addition

rc 364 acres of market gardens and orchards, 170 acres of barley, 164 acres of potatoes, 97 acres of
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oats, and 55 acres of pease and beans (Kass 2004:14). \Øheat remained a major cash crop for the area

until the 1850s and 1860s, when a series of floods was followed by an outbreak of stem rust, which

destroyed the grain crops. Like the sheep farmers before them, landowners growing wheat soon

moved over the mountains to the drier climates to the west.

Although the Liverpool area continued to be an agricultural region, the production offruit, vegetables

and grain crops declined towards the end of the nineteenth century, from 5,100 ecres under crops in
1895 to I,714 acres in 1904 (Keating 1996:125). Drought was a contributor to the falling numbers

of farmers, with the drought in 1902 being particularly severe. The subdivision of many of the larger

esrares in the 1880s, during a land speculation boom, wâs elso problematic. By the 1910s, all of the

large estates excepr Hinchinbrooþ had been carved up into small farms, generally beween th¡ee and

fifteen acres in size. Ironically, it was the combination of these small acreages, which were difficult to

farm at a productive scale, and the abiliry of farmers further west to gro\M crops cheaper and ship them

to marker via the railway, that was a major factor in the decline of the Liverpool district as a cropping

centre.

The 1904 report of the Parliamentary Standing Committee on Public \Øorks includes detailed

descriptions of living conditions and early farming practices in the study area. The committee took

evidence from two witnesses who lived on the Hoxton Park Estate subdivision: 
'W'illiam Hutton,

careraker of the estate from 1896, and \Øilliam Brown, butcher and resident from c.1899. Hutton

stated that the chief crops grown in the erea were stone fruits, citrus, grapes, cabbage, and other

vegetables. Brown stated that the soil was fair and would grow anything: maize, sorghum, potatoes,

pumpkins, corn and oaten hay. Two local farmers, J Gorst and G Griffin of Icþleton, had recently

topped the marhet þr seueral weeþs in Sydney with their swede turnips. The erea \Mas also good for

poultry. That being said, few farmers made a living from their land, and many had to work
somewhere else to make ends meet, either splitting and fencing or doing casual jobs. The small size of
the land holdings also meant that farmers on the Hoxton Park Estate could not engage in dairying
(NS\ø Legislative fusembly I904:I4,68-69; Keating 1996: 126).

The numbers of small-scale farms in the study area began to grow in the inter-war period. In I92I,
the Sands' Directory for NS-Sü' lisred 11 farmers in Austral Park, including one orchardist and one

poult¡y farmer; and 28 farmers in Hoxton Park, including one orchardist, four poultry farmers and

one dairy farmer. By 1926, there were 23 farmers in Austral Park, including seven poultry farmers

and one grazier; and 36 farmers in Hoxton Park, including one orchardist, one dairyman and four

poultry farmers. In 1931, Austral had 37 farmers listed, including two market gardeners, three

dairymen and ten poultry farmers; Hoxton Park had 31 farmers listed, including one grazier, two

dairymen and five poultry farmers; and Leppington had ten farmers, including one grazier and six

poultry fa¡mers.

The local agricultural industry received a boost in the years immediately before and after'SV\MII, with
an influx of new migrant settlers from Europe, particularly from southern Italy and Yugoslavia. These

families, many of whom had been farmers or rural workers back home, found a ready local agricultural

economy in Austral and Leppington, based on intensive small scale farming (Keating 1996:188).

By the middle of the twentieth century, market gardening and poultry and pig farming \Mere the focus

of local agricultural industry. Aerial photographs of the study area in 1955 show numerous clusters of
small farming buildings and poultry sheds springing up across the landscape (Figure 3.18).
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